CASE NO. 21-CV-640





UNITED HOUSE OF PRAYER FOR ALL PEOPLE OF THE CHURCH ON THE ROCK OF THE APOSTOLIC FAITH,

Appellant,

V.

RESTORATION DOCTOR, LLC,

Appellee.

On Appeal (following remand by this Court in 17-CV-1013) from D.C. Superior Court Case No. 2015 CA 002450 B The Honorable John Campbell, Superior Court Judge, Presiding

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT UNITED HOUSE OF PRAYER FOR ALL PEOPLE OF THE CHURCH ON THE ROCK OF THE APOSTOLIC FAITH

Mary E. Gately
(D.C. Bar No. 419151)
mary.gately@dlapiper.com
*Paul D. Schmitt
(D.C. Bar No. 1007680)
paul.schmitt@dlapiper.com
DLA PIPER LLP (US)
500 Eighth Street, NW
Washington, DC 20004
Tel: (202) 799-4500

Mickie Bailey, Esq.
(D.C. Bar No. 483520)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Superior Court erred in holding that a July 20, 2012 Work Authorization Agreement between UHP and Restoration Doctor, LLC ("RD-Singular") was a valid and enforceable contract when executed, despite the fact that it contained no specific terms as to the scope and price of the work to be performed.²
- 2. Whether the Superior Court erred by ignoring (a) the parties' course of conduct in using insurance company estimates as the basis for the price of restoration work, (b) RD-Singular's failure to refute the estimates provided by UHP, and (c) RD-Singular's subsequent performance of the very work contained within those estimates, which constituted RD-Singular's acceptance of those estimates, and bound both parties with regard to the price and scope of the restoration work.

¹ Appellee filed suit under the name "Restoration Doctor, Inc." but later requested that "Restoration Doctors, LLC" be named as the plaintiff. On remand, Appellee claimed that the plaintiff was now called "Restoration Doc LLC." App. at 790-793. Without waiving any rights, UHP treats Restoration Doctors, LLC as the Appellee.

² For purposes of clarity, UHP refers to Restoration Doctor, LLC as "RD-Singular" and Restoration Doctors, LLC as "RD-Plural".

- 3. Whether the Superior Court erred in holding on remand that Restoration Doctors, LLC ("RD-Plural") is the successor to RD-Singular, and thus had standing and capacity to pursue a lawsuit to enforce the Work Authorization Agreement between UHP and RD-Singular.
- 4. Whether RD-Plural could have brought its claims in the first instance, given that the original complaint was filed by a non-existent entity, and thus was void *ab initio*, leaving nothing to which the Amended Complaint could relate back.
- 5. Whether the Superior Court erred in its calculation of interest awarded by failing to credit UHP's previous payment of \$150,970.19 to principal, thus significantly elevating the interest awarded in RD-Plural's favor.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the Case

UHP brings this appeal after remand proceedings in the Superior Court. UHP previously appealed the Superior Court's August 23, 2017 Judgment on largely the same grounds brought in this appeal. *See* DCCA case no. 17-CV-1013. On July 25, 2019, this Court vacated the August 23, 2017 Judgment, holding that the Superior Court erred in precluding inquiry at trial into whether Restoration Doctors, LLC was a proper plaintiff. App. at 466-470. In its remand order, this Court noted that "[i]f the trial court determines on remand that there was a proper plaintiff, then the trial court may enter a new judgment in favor of that plaintiff. UHP would be free to

appeal from that judgment and could then seek review of the trial court's ruling on the merits." App. at 469. On remand, the Superior Court held that RD-Plural was RD-Singular's successor and thus had standing. App. at 797-807. UHP now appeals that ruling as well as the underlying judgment on the merits.

This case arises from a dispute concerning restoration work at one of UHP's churches in Baltimore after a flood on July 20, 2012. UHP, a religious and charitable organization, contacted a company named "Flood Doctor, Inc." to perform mitigation work (removing water and waste) at the church property.³ On behalf of Flood Doctor, Mr. Frank Darakhshan visited the property the same day and presented UHP with a form contract, titled "Work Authorization Agreement" (the "Agreement"), which lacked specific terms as to the scope or price of the work to be performed. The parties to the Agreement were UHP and RD-Singular.

Over the next few weeks, the parties negotiated and agreed to a price (\$165,467.40) for the mitigation work, using insurance estimates provided by an adjustor from Traveler's Insurance, UHP's insurer. It is undisputed that RD-Singular accepted this figure and that UHP paid it. Once the mitigation work was complete, UHP proposed costs for RD-Singular to restore the church property to its former state. As the parties had done for the mitigation work, UHP's proposed price was based on insurance estimates provided by Traveler's. After receiving the

³ Record cites for facts can be found in the Statement of Facts, *infra* at 15-27.

proposed costs for the restoration work, RD-Singular provided no counter-offer, and performed the work.

Seven months later (in late February 2013), UHP became dissatisfied with the pace and quality of the restoration work and terminated the business relationship. UHP was forced to hire additional contractors to finish the job that RD-Singular failed to complete. In October 2013 (almost eight months later) Mr. Darakhshan sent UHP his "final" invoice, which charged \$827,300.02 for restoration services purportedly rendered. This was far in excess of the amount agreed to by the parties for the restoration work (\$440,721.32), and it contravened the bargain the parties had struck as to costs through the course of their negotiations and performance.

UHP was faced with a parade of entities in this case, all apparently owned by Mr. Darakhshan. UHP executed the Agreement with RD-Singular; it was directed to make checks payable to Flood Doctor, Inc.; it was presented with a final invoice by Mr. Darakhshan as "Project Manager" of "Flood Doctor LLC"; it was sued by "Restoration Doctor, Inc.", an entity that never existed; and after the Superior Court's judgment on remand, it faces liability at the hands of RD-Plural, now apparently known as "Restoration Doc LLC". UHP was not made aware of RD-Plural's claim under the Agreement until March 2017, when RD-Plural first appeared in the litigation and claimed that it was the "successor" to RD-Singular,

the actual party to the Agreement. No meaningful support has been provided for this successorship theory, other than self-serving statements.

The Superior Court erred in numerous ways. Prior to the initial appeal, the Court wrongly enforced a "blank check" contract and refused to recognize the price terms to which the parties had bound themselves through a course of conduct. Further, despite a lack of supporting evidence, the court wrongly held on remand from this Court that RD-Plural was the corporate successor to RD-Singular and thus had standing to sue. The court also ignored that the statute of limitations had run because the complaint was filed by a non-entity. Finally, the court granted RD-Plural a windfall by miscalculating the interest due, resulting in almost \$150,000 in excessive interest charges to date. UHP requests that this Court vacate the judgment below, and instruct the Superior Court to enter judgment in favor of UHP.

II. Course of the Initial Pre-trial and Trial Proceedings

The original Complaint was filed by "Restoration Doctor, Inc." ("RDI") in the Superior Court on April 7, 2015. App. at 19-30. That entity never existed. *See infra* at 24. The Complaint alleged that UHP hired RDI to perform "flood damage mitigation services" at a property at 1515 Ashland Avenue in Baltimore, and that the parties had entered into an Agreement to that effect. App at 21. The Agreement was signed by <u>RD-Singular</u>. App. at 28. RDI also alleged that after services were provided, UHP made only partial payments and "made no further attempt to pay

[RDI] any part of the outstanding balance it owed[.]" App. at 22. RDI brought breach of contract and unjust enrichment claims for \$617,767.02 in allegedly unpaid sums, plus interest at 1.5% per month. App. at 24-25.

UHP filed its Answer on April 28, 2015. App. at 31-37. UHP denied the overwhelming majority of RDI's allegations, as well as any liability under the Agreement or otherwise. App. at 32-35. UHP also presented several defenses, including lack of standing and unenforceability of the contract. App. at 35-36.

RDI filed an Amended Complaint on November 1, 2016. App. at 43-49. The Amended Complaint's allegations were largely similar to those in the original Complaint; but RDI now acknowledged that, on September 13, 2016, UHP "sent a check in the amount of \$150,970.19[.]" App. at 46. RDI alleged that it was also entitled to 1.5% monthly interest. App. at 47. UHP filed an Answer on November 21, 2016, again denying the overwhelming majority of RDI's allegations, as well as any liability. App. at 50-57. UHP also reasserted its standing and enforceability defenses, among several other defenses. App. at 56.

-

⁴ Subtracting that payment from the original principal amount claimed by RDI in the Complaint (\$617,767.02), the principal amount due should have been \$466,796.83. However, RDI alleged that after the payment, there was "a remaining balance due in the amount of \$511,796.83" -i.e., \$45,000 more than what was originally claimed, once the additional payment was credited. App. at 46. RD-Plural seems to have addressed this error in its closing argument after trial by acknowledging that the restoration work cost \$827,300.02. App. at 429.

UHP filed a motion to dismiss / motion for summary judgment on March 3, 2017. App. at 58-72. UHP argued that (a) RDI did not legally exist as a corporation, and therefore had no legal capacity to bring suit (App. at 64-65); (b) the complaint could not be amended, because the original suit was a nullity as it was brought by a non-existent entity (App. at 65-68), and (c) because the original suit was void *ab initio*, it could not toll the three-year statute of limitations, which had expired (App. at 69). UHP also sought leave to amend its Answer to add a defense that RDI lacked capacity, and a motion for a determination that Maryland law applied.

On March 17, 2017, Appellee responded to UHP's motion to dismiss/motion for summary judgment, claiming that RDI was not the actual plaintiff, and that RD-Plural, a separate corporate entity, was the proper plaintiff as a "successor" to RD-Singular. App. at 96-99. In support, RD-Plural submitted an affidavit from Mr. Darakhshan. App. at 108. RD-Plural argued, *inter alia*, that (a) the naming of RDI as the plaintiff was a "mistake," and that leave should be given for RD-Plural to be substituted (App. at 96); and (b) RD-Plural had capacity to sue. App. at 99-100.

UHP filed its reply on March 22, 2017. App. at 109-118. UHP noted that the plaintiff (a) had not contested that RDI did not exist, and therefore had no capacity to sue (App. at 111-112); and (b) had not addressed UHP's argument that the filing of the initial complaint was void *ab initio*, thus leaving nothing for the Amended Complaint to "relate back" to for statute of limitations purposes. App. at 112-113.

On May 8, 2017, the Superior Court denied UHP's motion to dismiss/motion for summary judgment "for the reasons stated in the opposition." App. at 124. On the same day, the Court held that "Maryland substantive law presumably applies to claims at issue here, but the Court does not agree that Maryland law settles the question of 'capacity.'" App. at 126. The Court granted UHP's motion to amend the answer to add the defense of lack of capacity. App. at 128, 136.

Because RD-Plural had now changed its entire theory of the case -i.e., it now based its standing to sue on its "successor" status vis-a-vis RD-Singular, the actual party to the Agreement – UHP moved for reconsideration of the Superior Court's ruling on May 17, 2017. UHP argued, $inter\ alia$, that (1) RD-Plural had no standing because it was not a party to the Agreement, a third party beneficiary, or a successor; and (2) RD-Plural was not the proper party to bring suit. App. at 153-154.

Trial was held from June 19 through June 22, 2017. On the first day of trial, the Court denied UHP's motion for reconsideration. App. at 211:21-24. At trial, RD-Plural called as witnesses (1) Foad David Darakhshan, brother of Frank Darakhshan and owner of Galaxy Granite; and (2) Frank Darakhshan, purported owner of RD-Singular and RD-Plural. UHP called four witnesses: (1) Adam McGahee, UHP's accountant; (2) James Hanrahan, former adjuster with Traveler's Insurance Companies; (3) Wayne Jones, maintenance supervisor for UHP's Pennsylvania and Maryland districts; and (4) Frank Smith, a commercial contractor.

During the cross-examination of Frank Darakhshan, UHP's counsel attempted to explore whether RD-Plural was RD-Singular's corporate successor, but the court prohibited that line of questioning. App. at 258:6 – 259:13. The court stated that the issue of standing was "not relevant to the merits of this case" (App. at 258:14-15) given that it had "already ruled against" UHP. App. at 258:24-25.

The parties submitted written closing arguments on July 7, 2017. In its closing argument, UHP argued, *inter alia*, that the Agreement was unenforceable with regard to the restoration work, and that the amounts claimed by RD-Plural in damages were excessive. App. at 391-402. UHP's standing defense had already been raised and preserved as discussed above. App. at 259:10-12. In its closing, RD-Plural's damages demand now contradicted the damages theory in the Amended Complaint, in that it sought to credit a \$150,970.19 payment made by UHP on September 13, 2016 to interest, rather than principal. App. at 416, 429.

III. Initial Disposition Below

The Superior Court rendered its verdict on August 23, 2017, and entered judgment in favor of the plaintiff. App. at 432-450. These findings and rulings were incorporated in a Judgment Order the same day. App. at 452. They included:

• "[A]s a matter of law" the Agreement was "a binding contract" and "[t]he fact that it is missing a price term is unsurprising, unavoidable, and legally unimportant in the circumstance." App. at 436:4-10.

- The Agreement "covered both phases of the project as of the date of signing"
 i.e., both mitigation and restoration. App. at 436:17-22.
- The price for the mitigation work (approximately \$165,000) "was negotiated with the plaintiff's assistance with Traveler's [Insurance]" App. at 438:2-5. That amount was paid by UHP and was thus "off the table." App. at 438:5-8.
- With regard to the restoration work, "the plaintiff never agreed to accept less than the amount that was billed finally, and never in particular agreed to accept any estimate provided by Traveler's Insurance." App. at 437:13-16.
- The court found that "the work . . . was properly and professionally done" and "the costs billed were reasonable[.]" App. at 439:2-5.
- The plaintiff had received "maybe exactly [\$380,000] from [UHP] or from the insurance company for this project." App. at 438:12-15. After UHP's counsel noted that UHP had paid \$530,000, the court clarified that the \$380,000 figure was for "the restoration part of it." App. at 438:16-18.
- The plaintiff was claiming \$617,767.42 (which allegedly represented the amount billed, minus the amount that UHP paid), along with a 1.5% "monthly late fee", running from September 20, 2013, when the final invoice was presented to UHP. App. at 438:18-25; App. at 446:23 447:8.

• Adding the interest accrued from September 20, 2013 through July 7, 2017 to the principal figure, plaintiff was owed \$882,038.49, plus interest of \$304.65 per day starting July 7, 2017. App. at 447:24 – 448:2, 448:21-25.

IV. UHP's First Appeal

UHP filed its first Notice of Appeal on September 7, 2017. App. at 453-455. In that appeal, UHP raised the same arguments as in this appeal, but also argued that the Superior Court erred in precluding UHP from litigating the issue of standing. App. at 457-460. On July 25, 2019, this Court vacated the August 23, 2017 Judgment and remanded the case, holding that the Superior Court "erred in precluding inquiry at trial" as to standing, and it declined to address UHP's other arguments pending the Superior Court's resolution of whether RD-Plural was a proper party. App. at 466-470.

V. Proceedings in the Superior Court on Remand

On remand, UHP filed a renewed motion for summary judgment on October 31, 2019, arguing that RD-Plural had not established that it was the successor or assignee of RD-Singular (and thus had no standing). App. at 10. After being informed that UHP would file the renewed motion for summary judgment – and just prior to the filing of UHP's motion – RD-Plural filed a "Praecipe" attaching a "corrected affidavit of Frank Darakhshan" changing the date of RD-Singular's corporate cancellation from May 2010 to May 2013. App. at 471-475. RD-Plural

claimed this correction was necessary "[d]ue to a typographical error." App. at 472. UHP moved to strike the "corrected" affidavit on November 21, 2019. App. at 11.

The Superior Court denied both the renewed motion for summary judgment and the motion to strike via oral order at a hearing on December 13, 2019, and set a schedule for discovery and an evidentiary hearing. App. at 11. Over the course of the next several months, the parties conducted written discovery, and the depositions of Mr. Darakhshan and UHP's Elliott Thompson were taken.

The Superior Court held an evidentiary hearing on October 15, 2020 and November 2, 2020, hearing testimony from Mr. Darakhshan and Mr. Thompson. In lieu of closing arguments, it directed the parties to file briefs, which they did on November 16, 2020. App. at 729-771. UHP argued, inter alia, that (1) RD-Plural did not have standing, because it was not a party to the Agreement, was not a successor to RD-Singular, and was not assigned any rights to the Agreement; and (2) in any event, the statute of limitations had run, as the initial complaint was filed by a non-entity and was void ab initio, leaving nothing to which the Amended Complaint could relate back. App. at 729-755. RD-Plural argued that (1) it was the successor and equitable assignee of RD-Singular; and, that (2) RD-Plural was now named "Restoration Doc LLC." App. at 756-771. UHP filed a response on November 24, 2020 (App. at 772-783), and RD-Plural filed a reply on December 14, 2020. App. at 784-795. UHP argued that the request to substitute "Restoration Doc

LLC" as the plaintiff contradicted the evidence and RD-Plural's previous theory of the case. App. at 777-781.

VI. Ruling on Remand

The Superior Court rendered its ruling in an Order on Remand on August 16, 2021, and entered judgment in favor of RD-Plural. App. at 796-807. The court held that RD-Plural was RD-Singular's successor, and that RD-Plural had standing to pursue the lawsuit. App. at 798. Among the court's specific findings were:

- RD-Singular contracted with UHP in July 2012 for the flood remediation work, and it performed the work. When RD-Plural came into existence in May 2013, work had already ended on the UHP project. App. at 800.
- RD-Plural was born in May 2013, "just as RD-Singular was abandoning its corporate registration and ceasing to operate[.]" App. at 803-804.
- The court accepted Mr. Darakhshan's testimony that RD-plural continued RD-Singular's work, *inter alia*, using the same employees, equipment, website and bank account, and working on the same projects. App. at 800, 804.
- The court discounted the fact that when it was formed and registered, RD-Plural was given a different entity ID number from the one RD-Singular was assigned, because RD-Plural was not asserting that it was "literally the 'same' entity" as RD-Singular; rather "they were <u>effectively</u> the same, because the former continued the business of the latter as its successor." App. at 804.

- The court acknowledged that "Mr. Darakhshan seems to have paid little attention to the differences, if any, between these corporate forms or their names[,]" that there was no documentation of the successorship of RD-Plural to RD-Singular, and that UHP proved "that Mr. Darakhshan never notified it of the change in the name or the formal succession[.]" App. at 802, 805.
- However, the court found "the absence of documentation insignificant, given the volume of the other evidence" and that "notifying contractual parties that your company has changed names and is now technically a different entity is not required by law, as long as the change does not prejudice the other party[.]" It held that UHP was not prejudiced, and was "never at all interested in the formal name of Mr. Darakhshan's company." App. at 805-806.
- The court accepted Mr. Darakhshan's explanation that the name change of RD-Plural to "Restoration Doc LLC" was "intended to be only a 'd/b/a' designation," that Mr. Darakhshan checked the wrong box on the relevant form, and that "he has filed new paperwork to correct the mistake and to restore the company to its correct name of RD-plural." App. at 801.
- Given that it had found that RD-Plural was RD-Singular's successor, the court declined to address the equitable assignment theory. App. at 802.
- The court did not address UHP's argument that the statute of limitations had run because a non-existent entity filed the initial complaint.

UHP filed its Notice of Appeal on September 10, 2021, appealing from the August 16, 2021 ruling and judgment, and renewing its appeal as to the judgments and orders of May 8, 2017, June 29, 2017, and August 23, 2017. App. at. 811-812.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. The Flood at UHP's Church at 1515 Ashland Avenue

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