I. STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- A. Matters Raised in Second Appeal.
 - 1. Alleged Error regarding Intent to Be Bound to the Contract.

Even though the trial court found that "the job was properly done and professionally done, . . ., that all charges invoiced to the United House of Prayer were proper and were not inflated and were reasonable under all the circumstances," (APP-446), did the trial court err in finding that the Contract was enforceable as a matter of fact and law?

2. Alleged Error regarding Lack of Intent to Be Bound to Preliminary Estimate.

Even though the insurance adjustor testified that there was no agreement with RD-Singular to be bound by a preliminary estimate provided by the property insurer's "preferred" vendor, F.B. Davis, did the trial court err by not finding that RD-Singular agreed to restore the building for an amount not to exceed \$282,504.36?

3. Alleged Error regarding RD-Plural's Standing.

Even though Appellee's uncontroverted testimony established that RD-Plural

was a continuation of RD-Singular, did the trial court err by determining that RD-Plural is a proper plaintiff?

4. Alleged Error regarding the Statute of Limitations.

Was it error for the trial court to not apply the statute of limitations?

5. Alleged Error in Calculation of Interest.

Was it an abuse of discretion for the trial court to apply a payment to unpaid interest before unpaid principal?

B. Matters Raised and Addressed in the First Appeal.

During the first appeal, UHP raised four issues: (1) whether it was error to prevent UHP from cross-examining Frank Darakhshan about RD-Plural's corporate history and successorship status to RD-Singular (APPX. 458); (2) whether it was error to hold that the July 20, 2012 Contract was enforceable due to its open price term (APPX. 459); (3) whether the Superior Court erred by declining to find that the insurer's estimates bound the parties to the amount of the estimates (APPX. 459); and (4) was it error to calculate contractual interest by crediting UHP's payment of \$150,970.19 to unpaid interest awarded to Appellee (APPX. 459).

Now during this second appeal, UHP raises five issues: (1) whether it was error to hold that the July 20, 2012 Work Authorization Agreement was enforceable due to a lack of certainty (Appellant's Brief, p. 1); (2) whether the Superior Court erred by declining to find that the insurer's estimates bound the parties to the

amounts of the estimates (*id.*); (3) whether it was error to hold that RD-Plural is a successor to RD-Singular (*id.* at 2); (4) whether RD-Plural's claim is barred by the statute of limitations (*id.*); and (5) whether the Superior Court erred by adopting RD-Plural's calculation of damages.

The narrow issue of whether cross-examination should have been allowed concerning standing, specifically whether RD-Plural was a proper plaintiff, was resolved favorably to Appellant during the first appeal. Thus, the matter was remanded to determine whether there was a proper plaintiff. (APPX. 469). This Court observed that if the Superior Court did find there was a proper plaintiff, UHP would be free to appeal from that judgment and could then seek review of the trial court's ruling on the merits. (APPX. 469). Since the Superior Court concluded that RD-Plural was a proper plaintiff after allowing discovery on the issue of standing, and tried the standing issue on October 15 and November 2, 2020 (APPX. 796-807), UHP appropriately challenges that determination in this second appeal.

UHP introduces a new issue to the second appeal: whether RD-Plural's claim is barred by Maryland's three-year statute of limitations for actions based on contract. That issue was briefed in UHP's March 3, 2017 Motion to Dismiss before the first trial, but the argument was never developed during the first appeal. (APPX. 069). UHP did not specifically mention a statute of limitations defense in its statement of issues in the first appeal. (APPX. 458-459). Instead, the entirety of

UHP's discussion of the statute of limitations defense was relegated to a footnote in Appellant's Brief in the first appeal. (APPX. 460). As is discussed *infra* at 41, that issue has been waived.

C. Matters Not Raised in Either Appeal.

UHP does not appeal the trial court's determination that the work was done properly and professionally and does not appeal the finding that all amounts invoiced were reasonable. Nonetheless, at times UHP argues that RD-Plural's costs were "exorbitant" (Appellant's Brief, pp. 20, 23, 28, 36), that Appellee failed to adequately complete the restoration work (Appellant's Brief, p. 4), and that the Contract gave RD-Plural a "blank check" that allowed RD-Plural to "charge any price, even in the millions of dollars." (Appellant's Brief, pp. 5, 33.) Those allegations were resolved at trial adversely to UHP after UHP had a full and fair opportunity to put on its best case at trial.

The court below found that "the job was properly done and professionally done, according to specifications, requirements of the job and specifications of the client, and that it was properly charged, that all charges invoiced to the United House of Prayer were proper and were not inflated and were reasonable under all the circumstances." (APPX. 446). The parties specifically litigated whether there was incomplete or defective work, and whether UHP was owed a set-off for work that UHP claimed had to be redone. (APPX. 439). Since those allegations were resolved

at trial adversely to UHP and UHP has not appealed them, its attempts to revise or revisit the record on this point should be disregarded. For example, Appellant's Brief, p. 23, n. 7 and page 38, n. 16, suggests that UHP is entitled to a reduction in the judgment for \$19,878.00 for work that the trial court considered and specifically discredited. These arguments are a mere distraction, meant to unjustifiably sully RD-Singular's work, unsupported by the record, not part of the issues appealed, and were waived.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Summary of the Claim and First Trial.

UHP hired RD-Singular to perform emergency remediation and restoration work the day after a catastrophic flood filled UHP's basement to the ceiling with raw sewage and diesel fuel. Frank Darakhshan of RD-Singular met with Apostle Thompson, UHP's Corporate Secretary, and explained to him all terms of the Customer Communication and Work Authorization Agreement (the "Contract") on a page-by-page, paragraph-by-paragraph basis. (APPX. 227). As Frank Darakhshan went through the Contract with him, Apostle Thompson told him that he had dealt with floods before, and it was apparent to Frank Darakhshan that Apostle Thompson "knew exactly the procedures" associated with the work to be done. (APPX. 224). When the question of price was discussed, Frank Darakhshan told Apostle Thompson that they "would be using Xactimate, what everybody in the industry

uses" for invoicing. The price would be based on square footages, the type of materials taken out, the number of hours, the number of days equipment was left there and other factors that could not be determined in advance. (APPX. 225-226). That discussion regarding price did not just apply to the emergency remediation services, but also to restoration. (APPX. 226). Frank Darakhshan testified "while I was explaining it to him, he was nodding that he knows what that is." (APPX. 225).

Frank Darakhshan and Apostle Thompson specifically discussed whether UHP wanted to proceed with restoration. Apostle Thompson wondered whether he needed to find a second company to do the restoration work and Mr. Darakhshan told him, "We do everything from A to Z. We handle the restoration as well." (APPX. 227) Apostle Thompson demonstrated UHP's assent to the Contract by initialing each of the Contract's provisions, including the provision that set out the scope of the Contract to "furnish materials, supply all equipment and perform all labor necessary to preserve and protect my property from further damage, and to perform all restoration procedures necessary to repair and restore the carpet, furniture, structure and other furnishings." (APPX. 829).

One of the provisions specifically initialed by Mr. Thompson addressed price

¹ While Frank Darakhshan testified during the first trial, Apostle Thompson did not.

and explained that in RD-Singular's industry, it was impractical to establish prices at the time of contracting due to variables encountered in responding to flood damage:

[] Prices: I understand that water damage is a progressive condition and that drying time varies depending on the types of materials, quantity of water, degree of saturation, airflow volume and velocity, temperature and the indoor and outdoor humidity. Therefore, I understand it is impractical to give an accurate quote for services before completion. I have been supplied with an estimate or invoice from Restoration Doctor LLC, and agree to pay the full price for the work Restoration Doctor LLC performs.

RD-Singular provided an invoice for a \$5,000.00 deposit before it started work immediately and provided remediation services including pumping, dehumidification, structural drying, demolition and hauling services at UHP's property. (APPX. 1032). While RD-Singular's work was underway, Travelers Insurance Companies ("Travelers") sent an adjustor, described by the senior adjustor James Hanrahan as a "first level guy who just walked through it quickly" to give an estimate for the cost of the emergency services. Mr. Hanrahan testified at trial that the "estimate" for the emergency remediation that Travelers received from its adjustor was in the \$50,000 to \$75,000 range. (APPX. 358-359).

RD-Singular provided an invoice for the remediation work in the amount of \$185,825.80 to Travelers. Over the next several weeks, Frank Darakhshan

² That estimate was never produced in litigation and there was no testimony from the estimator explaining the estimate or the process.

negotiated that invoice with Mr. Hanrahan, resulting in Travelers making a payment of \$165,467.40 by check to UHP (not RD-Singular) on September 26, 2012. While Appellant's Brief, at p. 3, argues that the \$165,467.40 price for the remediation services was negotiated and agreed to "using insurance estimates provided by an adjustor from Travelers," there is nothing in the record to support that contention. UHP incorrectly characterizes Frank Darakhshan's testimony by conflating the amount agreed upon -- \$165,467.40—with the F.B. Davis estimate for the emergency services and demolition work. Mr. Hanrahan testified that RD-Singular did not agree to be bound to any estimates. There is no record establishing that the "first-level guy's" estimate, made just after the flood, was ever provided to RD-Singular for its consideration. This failure of proof is fatal to UHP's contention that RD-Singular's acceptance of the remediation estimate established a course of conduct between the parties whereby RD-Singular agreed to be bound to insurance estimates. There is no evidence that RD-Singular agreed to be bound to the early estimate for emergency remediation work and, notwithstanding that estimate, Travelers approved a payment for the emergency work in an amount that was more than three times the low-end of the estimate and double the amount of the high-end (\$50,000 to \$75,000 according to James Hanrahan) of that estimate. (APPX. 358-359).

Restoration work commenced after the remediation was completed. It

included rebuilding almost all features from the floor to the ceiling including, but not limited to, stained-glass windows, doors, floors, tiles, ceilings, framing, drywall, electrical, woodwork, fixtures, paint, trim, replacement and installation of high-end commercial kitchen equipment, bathroom fixtures, the elevator, PA system, fire suppression system and other detail work. A fifteen-page invoice was generated using Xactimate, summarizing all the restoration work performed by Restoration Doctors and its subcontractors in the amount of \$827,300.02, and was submitted October 11, 2013. (APPX. 907-923).

Regarding the restoration phase of the work, the evidence at trial showed that Travelers procured an estimate from F.B. Davis, less than a week after the flood occurred that estimated restoration work for \$282,504.36. During the first trial on June 21, 2017, UHP proffered Mr. Hanrahan to testify about "the conversations that he had with Frank Darakhshan and his understanding that the parties agreed on the scope of restoration work as provided in the F.B. Davis estimate." Instead, Mr. Hanrahan testified that there was no such agreement, and correspondence between James Hanrahan and Apostle Thompson on May 7, 2014 confirmed that RD-Singular did not agree to accept the F.B. Davis estimate to establish the price. (APPX. 1047-1048).

³ See June 21, 2017 trial transcript at p. 365.

During the June 19 through 22, 2017 trial, RD-Singular presented testimony and documentation to substantiate all parts of its final invoice in the amount of \$827,300.02 for the restoration services. (APPX. 834-873). UHP presented testimony as to several minor items that it considered to have been improperly performed, including paint, a piece of tape on a window, wallpaper, doors, a range hood, and an alleged double charge relating to a delivery fee. On each of these points, the testimony of RD-Plural's witnesses was credited and the testimony of UHP's witnesses was discredited. (APPX. 445-446).

Appellee summarized the amounts it claimed with a demonstrative exhibit breaking down the charges for Remediation, Restoration and Stolen Equipment, payments by the Church to Restoration Doctors and a calculation of a 1.5% late charge current as of March 27, 2017, the prior date of trial. (APPX. 429). The amount RD-Plural sought to be awarded for principal was \$617,767.42, the difference between charges of \$997,767.42 and payments of \$380,000.00. RD-Plural further sought to be awarded late fees based on the Contract, which stated, "Payment terms to Restoration Doctor LLC are Net-30 days and late charges of 1.5% monthly are charged on any unpaid balance." Late fees began to accrue no later than October 20, 2013, thirty days after the summary invoice (APPX. 834-873). was provided to the Church. A 1.5% monthly charge was stated as .04931507% daily or 18% simple interest annually. Between October 20, 2013 and July 14, 2017,

thirteen-hundred and sixty-three (1363) days had passed. The daily late fee can be determined as \$304.65 (.0004931507 x \$617,767.42). Thus, the court was asked to award a late charge, in addition to principal, in an amount not less than \$415,241.26 plus \$304.65 per day until paid. The sum of the principal (\$617,767.42) and late charge (\$415,241.26) are \$1,033,008.68. The court was asked to deduct the \$150,970.19 payment made September 13, 2016 by UHP to RD-Singular from the finance charge, yielding a judgment amount of \$882,038.49 plus \$304.65 per day.

B. Proceedings Material to the First Appeal.

UHP filed a Motion to Dismiss or in the Alternative, for Summary Judgment on March 3, 2017. (APPX. 58-72). It argued that the named plaintiff at the time, "Restoration Doctor, Inc." lacked capacity to sue, that the initial filing of the lawsuit was a nullity, and that under Maryland law, the statute of limitations barred the the claim. In response, RD-Plural acknowledged that it had erroneously sued in the name of "Restoration Doctor, Inc." when it should have sued in the name of "RD-Plural." (APPX. 96). A sworn statement was submitted from Frank Darakhshan wherein he testified that RD-Plural was currently in good standing, RD-Plural was

⁴ In RD-Plural's Omnibus Opposition to Motion for Leave to Amend, Choice of Law and To Dismiss, or in the Alternative for Summary Judgment, RD-Plural expressly moved to be substituted in the place of Restoration Doctor, Inc. (APPX. 096).

⁵ This established "capacity" for RD-Plural. Capacity rules determine whether the Plaintiff is qualified to sue. See Super. Ct. Civ. R. 17(b).

formed as a successor to RD-Singular, and that RD-Plural was a continuation of RD-Singular owning RD-Singular's assets and subject to all RD-Singular's debts. (APPX. 108). RD-Plural submitted that Super. Ct. Civ. R. 17(a) provided for substitution of RD-Plural in the place of Restoration Doctor, Inc., and that relation back would be automatic for a substitution under Rule 17(a). RD-Plural further argued that the result would be the same under Super. Ct. Civ. R. 15, specifically part (c). Specifically, in response to UHP's statute of limitation argument, RD-Plural pointed out that UHP had made a partial payment acknowledging the debt on September 9, 2016 in the amount of \$150,970.19. (APPX. 91; 1044).

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